2015

Alan Hoskins, Jr., Plaintiff/Appellant, vs. Ogden Auto Body

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code § 78A-4-103(2)(j). The case was properly transferred under Utah Code § 78A-3-102(4) from the Utah Supreme Court, which had jurisdiction under Utah Code § 78A-3-102(3)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

ISSUE NO. 1: Whether the trial court erred when it concluded there was no material issue of fact that Appellant/Defendant Michael James Shannon was acting in the course and scope of his employment with Appellee/Defendant Ogden Auto Body, and thereby, granted summary judgment in favor of Ogden Auto Body.

Standard of review: A trial court's ruling on summary judgment presents a question of law, and the legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment are reviewed for correctness. *Massey v. Griffiths*, 2007 UT 10 ¶ 8, 152 P.3d 312 (*cited in Fire Ins. Exch. v. Oltmanns*, 2012 UT App. 230, ¶ 4, 285 P.3d 802).

Preservation: Issues No. 1 was preserved in the parties' briefing of Ogden Auto Body's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. 604, R. 853, R. 1061, R. 1321, R. 1371), and exhibits thereto.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES, RULES, AND ORDINANCES

None.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case, course of proceedings, and disposition below

On October 23, 2012, Appellant/Defendant Michael James Shannon and Appellant/Plaintiff Alan Hoskins were involved in an automobile-pedestrian accident at 20th Street and Washington Avenue in Ogden, Utah. On July 17, 2013, Hoskins filed a negligence action against Shannon and his employer, Ogden Auto Body. Hoskin's Complaint included causes of action against Ogden Auto Body for *respondeat superior* and negligence and/or recklessness (in the training, monitoring, retaining, entrustment of vehicles and/or supervision of Shannon).

After the close of fact discovery, Ogden Auto Body filed a motion for summary judgment. (R. 601.) Ogden Auto Body argued that it was entitled to summary judgment (1) on Hoskins' *respondeat superior* claim because Shannon was not acting in the "course and scope" of his employment at the time of the accident based on the "coming and going" exception, and on (2) Hoskins' negligent hiring, training, and entrustment claims because there was no evidence Ogden Auto Body knew Shannon posed a threat to pedestrians, or that Ogden Auto Body's hiring, training, or supervision was the proximate cause of the accident. (R. 604-622.) The trial court agreed with Ogden Auto Body's analysis and granted its motion for summary judgment. (R. 1061-1091.)

Ogden Auto Body subsequently filed a motion to certify order granting summary judgment as final, pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. 1438.) Shannon joined in the motion. (R. 1457.) Ogden Auto Body and Shannon argued that the trial court should certify the order granting summary judgment to promote the speedy resolution of claims against Ogden Auto Body “by forcing an appeal” and as a matter of judicial economy. (R. 1441-1446, R. 1457-1459.)

The trial court agreed with Ogden Auto Body’s and Shannon’s arguments and signed an order granting its motion to certify order granting summary judgment as final, pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 54(b). (R. 1743-1745.) This appeal followed. (R. 1764.)

Statement of facts

The accident

On Tuesday, October 23, 2012, an automobile-pedestrian accident occurred between Shannon, an employee of Ogden Auto Body, and Hoskins. Shannon, driving an Ogden Auto Body tow truck, made a left turn on a green light and struck Hoskins, who was crossing the street in the crosswalk. (R. 629, pp. 58:25-60:18.) For purposes of the motion at issue on appeal, the Defendants did not dispute that Shannon negligently caused the accident. (R. 604-621, R. 853-875.)

Scope of Shannon's employment with Ogden Auto Body

Shannon resided in South Ogden, Utah, at all relevant times involved in this matter. (R. 1117, p. 6:16-22.) He began working as a tow truck driver for Ogden Auto Body in 2004. (R. 1117, p. 13:2-15; R. 667-668.) At the time of the accident, he was a salaried employee. (R. 1120, p. 21:6-14.) As part of his employment, Shannon drove a 5500 GMC 2009 tow truck which was owned and maintained by Ogden Auto Body. (R. 904; R. 918:20-21; R. 1125, p. 41:14-25.)¹ He did not pay for oil, gas, mechanical work, or automobile insurance on the tow truck out-of-pocket or for which Ogden Auto Body didn't reimburse him. (R. 1284, Request No. 10 and Shannon's Response.)

Ogden Auto Body assigned Shannon to handle vehicle service calls ("calls") mainly in the Layton area, but he also responded to calls in the Ogden area when called by Ogden Auto Body. (R. 1123, pp. 31:16-24, 33:3-22.) During the day, Shannon drove the tow truck to various parking lots in the area to await and respond to calls from Ogden Auto Body. (R. 1123, pp. 32:15 – 33:2.)

Ogden Auto Body's clients require that its drivers respond to calls within 20 to thirty 30 minutes within the geographic territory. (R. 1109, p. 43:6-19; R. 1196, p. 26:15-25.) Accordingly, Ogden Auto Body's response time is critical to its

¹ The oil, gas, maintenance and liability insurance expended for the tow truck was identified on Ogden Auto Body's financial books as an asset to the business. (R. 1278, Request No. 11, and Ogden Auto Body's Response.)

compensation and its position for client calls. (R. 1196, p. 26:15-25.) In 2012, Ogden Auto Body communicated with its drivers using a remote “Ranger” system which used a global positioning system (GPS) to identify the location of its tow trucks. Ogden Auto Body then contacted the drivers by phone to assign calls. (R. 1102, pp. 15-16:15; R. 1196, pp. 28:21 – 30:1.)

Ogden Auto Body dispatched service calls to the drivers geographically closest to each call. (R. 1102, p. 14:2-15:6; R. 1196, pp. 26:6-13, 27:13 – 28:6.) Ogden Auto Body drivers now use a tablet computer to accept calls. They take it out of their truck and into their homes in anticipation of a call. (R. 1102, pp. 14:22 – 15:6.) In 2012, Ogden Auto Body communicated with Shannon using his personal cell phone. (R. 1105, pp. 26:23 – 27:5.)

Ogden Auto Body knew about and allowed employees to run personal errands, pick-up food and eat meals in their tow trucks. (R. 1198, p. 37:1-25.) Shannon would eat meals in his tow truck. (R. 1124, pp. 35:22 – 36:14.) Shannon did not have his own personal vehicle and, on occasion, used the Ogden Auto Body tow truck to run personal errands. (R. 1118, pp. 10:18 – 11:23.) Ogden Auto Body’s owner, Tom Baur, told Shannon that he could use the tow truck for personal errands anytime, but Shannon always asked for permission before performing any personal errand. (R. 1118, p. 11:10-16.)

It was Shannon's duty to drive the tow truck for its use by Ogden Auto Body's business. (R. 1284, Request No. 11 and Shannon's Response; R. 1285, Request No. 16 and Shannon's Response.) The tow truck was necessary to fulfill the duties of his employment with Ogden Auto Body, as it contained the tools and other instruments necessary to perform his work. (R. 1283-1284, Request No. 9 and Shannon's Response.) He could not perform most of his work duties for Ogden Auto Body without the tow truck. (R. 1285, Request No. 15 and Shannon's Response.)

The nature of Shannon's work was unpredictable, and he did not have a strict schedule. (R. 1132, pp. 66:24 – 68:3; R. 1141, p. 103:1-12; R. 1141, p. 104:4-21; R. 1195, p. 25:12-17.) He usually started his workday around 7:00 a.m. and worked until around 7:00 p.m. He would clear a call after 7:00 p.m. on average once or twice per week and was called out after 9:00 p.m. once every two or three months. (R. 1103, p. 18:9-19; R. 1104, pp. 22:14 – 23:1.) Shannon had no particular "check out" time for his territory. (R. 1195, p. 25:12-17.) He usually cleared his last call of the day between 6:00 p.m. and 8:00 p.m. (R. 1104, p. 22:14-21.)

Shannon regularly worked after 7:00 p.m. Between July 1 2012 and December 1, 2012, Shannon completed 44 calls after 7:00 p.m. (R. 1252-1272.) In the two months immediately preceding the accident, he cleared 26 calls from

Ogden Auto Body after 6:00 p.m. (R. 1252-1272.) Of those calls, Shannon cleared 16 calls after 7:00 p.m. and 7 calls after 8:00 p.m. (R. 1252-1272.)

The tow truck was required to always be available for Ogden Auto Body's use. (R. 1285, Request No. 13 and Shannon's Response.) Taking the Ogden Auto Body tow truck home was "just part of the job" for Ogden Auto Body's drivers so they could quickly respond to service calls. (R. 1103, p. 21:14-20, R. 1117, pp. 9:22 – 10:3; R. 1131, p. 62:17-25; R. 1191, pp. 9:22 – 1192, p. 10:6; R. 1196, p. 28:7-23.) Shannon took the tow truck home in order to respond to calls as soon as possible. (R. 1131, p. 62:1-25; R. 1133, pp. 70:20 – 71:2.) Taking the Ogden Auto Body tow truck home benefitted Ogden Auto Body by having the vehicle ready to go when needed. (R. 1131, p. 62:17-25; R. 1133, pp. 70:20 – 71:2.)

Ogden Auto Body expected its drivers to be "always on call" 24 hours a day and to respond to an Ogden Auto Body towing call unless they had pre-arranged time off. (R. 1131, p. 62:1-16; R. 1196, pp. 28:7 – 29:12; 1285, Request No. 14 and Shannon's Response.) As long as Shannon was in the tow truck, he was expected to respond to a call. (R. 1196, pp. 28:25 – 29:12.) Shannon also remained on-call from his home. (R. 1122, pp. 28:14 – 29:4; R. 1131, p. 62:1-16; R. 1132, pp. 67:5 – 68:3.) There was no set time during the week when Shannon could refuse to take a call to respond with the Ogden Auto Body tow truck. (R. 1122, p. 28:14 – 29:4; R. 1131, p. 62:1-16; R. 1196, pp. 28:7 – 29:9.) He never

refused to respond to Ogden Auto Body calls after picking up dinner or going home. (R. 1133, pp. 70:20 – 71:2.)

After Shannon's final tow or "call" during usual hours of a work day, he would call the Ogden Auto Body office to inform it that he completed a final tow (to "clear the call") before heading home. (R. 1124, p. 34:11 – 35:12.) He would call Mr. Baur every day, after Ogden Auto Body's office hours, to clear a call before heading home. (R. 1124, p. 35:5-6; R. 1104, p. 22:14-21.) This usually occurred between 6:00 p.m. and 7:00 p.m. (R. 1124, p. 35:7-9.)

Shannon's work the afternoon of the accident

On the day of the accident, Shannon towed a vehicle to a Big O Tire shop in Brigham City and dropped it off around 6:30 p.m. (R. 1129, p. 55:11-23.) He called Mr. Baur from Brigham City to clear the call at 6:36 p.m. (R. 1129, pp. 57:8 – 58:2; R. 1140, pp. 98:9 – 100:5.) Mr. Baur did not ask him to tow another job at that time, so he began driving from Brigham City to his home in Ogden. (R. 1141, p. 105:5-11.) Shannon remained on-call, and, as required, had he received another call from Ogden Auto Body after completing the tow in Brigham City, he would have responded. (R. 1141, pp. 102:8 – 103:6.) Along the way, Shannon stopped at a drive through window at a Kneaders restaurant in Ogden to pick up dinner. (R. 1129, p. 56:13-22; R. 1130, p. 58:3-10; R. 1133, p. 71:3-7.) He then continued toward home. (R. 130, p. 59:3-14.)

Shannon pulled onto Washington Boulevard and headed south. As he turned left at a green light on 20th Street, he struck Hoskins, who was crossing the street in the cross-walk. (R. 1130, pp. 59:3 – 60:18.) Weber Area Dispatch received a 911 call reporting the accident at 7:19 p.m. (R. 702.) Approximately 41 minutes elapsed between the time he finished the call in Brigham City and the accident. (R. 1140, pp. 99:22 – 100:10.) Shannon received a citation for the accident. (R. 1127, p. 48:12-17; R. 1134, p. 76:5-7.) Despite the accident, had Shannon been asked by Ogden Auto Body to respond to a call in the hours after the accident, he would have responded as required. (R. 1133, p. 71:8-11; 1141, pp. 103:1 – 104:21.) It is Shannon's position that he was acting within the course and scope of his employment with Ogden Auto Body at the time of the accident. (R. 1210, Request No. 4 and Shannon's Response.)

Ogden Auto Body's actions after the accident

Shannon returned to work for Ogden Auto Body the day after the accident. (R. 684, p. 38:11-17.) Ogden Auto Body did not reprimand, suspend or take any disciplinary action against Shannon, and Mr. Baur only told him he needed to "be careful." (R. 684, p. 38:5-10.) Ogden Auto Body paid Shannon's citation and hired an attorney to assist him with that citation. (R. 642, p. 71:8-11; 650, p. 103:1-12; 683, pp. 37:21 – 38:4; 917:7-18.) Shannon remained employed by Ogden Auto Body as of April 2014. (R. 1202, p. 52:2-4.)

The Defendants' motions and the trial court's orders

Ogden Auto Body filed a motion for summary judgment, asking the trial court, in part, to dismiss Hoskins' claims because Shannon was not acting in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident. Specifically, Ogden Auto Body argued that the "coming and going" exception precluded liability because Shannon had completed a tow approximately forty-one (41) minutes prior to the accident, picked up dinner, and was driving home. (R. 601.)

The trial court granted Ogden Auto Body's motion for summary judgment, ruling as a matter of law that "Shannon's operation of the tow truck was not in the course and scope of his employment and was not advancing the interests of Ogden Auto Body at the time of the accident." (R. 1061-1091, R. 1951, pp. 52:6 – 54:15.)

Ogden Auto Body subsequently filed a motion to certify order granting summary judgment as final. (R. 1438.) Shannon joined in the motion. (R.1457.) Ogden Auto Body and Shannon argued the trial court should certify the order granting summary judgment to promote the speedy resolution of claims against Ogden Auto Body "by forcing an appeal" as to one of the two defendants.² (R. 1441-1446, R. 1457-1459, R. 1949, pp. 1 – 24.)

² The defendants argued that this would serve judicial economy. It is unclear how forcing a piecemeal appeal against one party would be judicially economic.

The trial court agreed with Ogden Auto Body's argument and granted its motion to certify order granting summary judgment as final, pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 54(b). (R. 1743-1745, R. 1949, pp. 24:22 – 27:9.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court committed legal error in a number of respects. As a threshold matter, the trial court erred by taking from the jury the question of whether Shannon was acting within the course and scope of his employment with Ogden Auto Body at the time of the subject accident. Scope of employment questions are fact bound and typically reserved for the fact-finder.

Ogden Auto Body's motion for summary judgment exclusively argued that, because Shannon was traveling home at the time of the accident, Utah's "coming and going" exception to liability, based on the doctrine of *respondeat superior*, applied, thereby removing Shannon from the course and scope of his employment as a matter of law. The "coming and going" exception required the trial court to weigh Ogden Auto Body's benefit from and control of Shannon conduct at the time of the accident versus the personal nature of the subject trip. In granting summary judgment, the trial court erred by failing to properly weigh these considerations in light of the undisputed facts, and erred by failing to apply

Instead, trial of the case will be delayed one to two years, after which a second appeal may result.

exceptions to the “coming and going” exception under the circumstances of this case.

Moreover, the trial court committed legal error by failing to find that an issue of fact existed, for the fact finder to determine, as to whether Ogden Auto Body’s post-accident actions regarding Shannon’s conduct, amounts to ratification, placing Shannon within the course and scope of his employment at the time the accident for purposes of *respondeat superior*.

The Court should reverse the trial court’s granting of Ogden Auto Body’s motion for summary judgment because (1) Utah’s “coming and going” exception to the doctrine of *respondeat superior* is only a general exception, which is not always applicable, and to which exceptions exist, (2) Ogden Auto Body received a substantial benefit from and had control over Shannon at the time of the accident, either making the “coming and going” exception inapplicable or necessitating the application of exceptions to the “coming and going” exception in this case, including Utah’s “dual purpose exception” and “instrumentality exception,” and (3) even if Shannon was not within the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident, Ogden Auto Body’s ratification of his conduct placed him back within the course and scope of his employment for purposes of *respondeat superior*.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT SHANNON WAS NOT ACTING IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT BASED UPON UTAH'S "COMING AND GOING" EXCEPTION.

A. Utah's "Coming and Going" Exception to the Doctrine of *Respondeat Superior* is Only a General Exception, which is Not Always Applicable, and to which Exceptions Exist.

Under the doctrine of *respondeat superior*, "an employer may be held vicariously liable for the acts of its employee if the employee is in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the act giving rise to the injury." *Castellanos v. Tommy John, LLC*, 2014 UT App. 48, ¶ 39, 219 P.3d 218 (citing *Newman v. White Water Whirlpool*, 2008 UT 79, ¶ 8, 197 P.3d 654). In Utah, an employee is generally not acting within the course and scope of his employment for purposes of third-party negligence claims when he is traveling to and from work. *Whitehead v. Variable Annuity Life Ins. Co.*, 801 P.2d 934, 936 (Utah 1989). "This exception [to vicarious liability] is known as the 'coming and going' rule." *Newman*, 2008 UT 79, ¶ 8 (citations omitted). "The major premise of the 'going and coming' rule is that it is unfair to impose unlimited liability on an employer for conduct of its employees over which it has no control and from which it derives no benefit." *Whitehead*, 801 P.2d at 937.

Because this "coming and going" policy is an exception in determining whether an employee is in the course and scope of his employment, the burden of

proof resets upon the party claiming the exception. *See State v. 633 E. 640, 942 P.2d 925, 933 (1997)* (one who claims an exception to a general rule must bear the burden of proving that he or she comes within the exception.); *see also i.e. Jones & Trevor Mktg. v. Lowry*, 2012 UT 39, ¶ 31, 284 P.3d 630, 639 (where liability is based on an alter ego theory, the burden of proof is on the party seeking to have the court apply the exception to the general rule and disregard the corporate entity.); *Browning v. Equitable Life Assurance Soc'y*, 94 Utah 570, 586 (Utah 1938) (when an insurance company pleads an exception provided in the policy, it is an affirmative defense, and as in all other pleas of affirmative defense, the burden of proof is on the defendant to sustain it.)³

³ The “coming and going” policy is an exception to Utah’s test in determining whether an employee is in the course and scope of employment – the three part “Birkner Test”:

First, an employee’s conduct must be of the general kind the employee is employed to perform. . . . Second, the employee’s conduct must occur within the hours of the employee’s work and the ordinary spatial boundaries of the employment. Third, the employee’s conduct must be motivated, at least in part, by the purpose of serving the employer’s interests.

Birkner v. Salt Lake County, 771 P.2d 1053, 1056-57 (Utah 1989) (internal citations omitted). Whether an employee is in the course and scope of his employment under the Birkner Test is typically a question for the fact finder (*Newman*, 2008 UT 79, ¶ 10), and Ogden Auto Body’s summary judgment did not contest that Shannon met the Birkner Test. (R. 613-619.)

Pursuant to this “coming and going” exception, to be within the course and scope of his employment, an employee “must be acting to benefit his employer and subject to his control.” *Id.* at 938. This does not mean that an employer will be liable if it receives *any* benefit or has *any* control over the employee. *Ahlstrom v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, 2003 UT 4, ¶ 9, 73 P.3d 315. Instead, the court must “weigh the benefit and control against the personal nature of the trip in order to determine where it is appropriate to place liability.” *Id.*

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