2016

Alan Hoskins, Jr., Plaintiff/Appellant, vs. Ogden Auto Body

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court ruled that the driver, Mr. Shannon, was “not doing anything at the time of the accident that benefits the employer. He is on-call but he was not responding to a call and so to me that’s the critical thing here is to be within the scope of employment I think he has to be doing something that actually benefits the employer and as I mentioned before I think the answer is no in this case.” (R. 1951, p.54). Appellants Mr. Hoskins and Mr. Shannon argue that this ruling was error for four reasons.

They first argue that summary judgment should not have been awarded because a reasonable juror could conclude that the coming-and-going rule did not apply. Generally

under the coming-and-going rule, “an employee is not in the scope of his employment for purposes of third-party negligence claims when he is traveling to and from work.”

Ahlstrom v. Salt Lake City Corp., 2003 UT 4, ¶ 6 (citations omitted). The rule applies to on-call employees who drive company vehicles outside of work hours, but are not actively responding to a service call. *See Lane v. Messer*, 731 P.2d 488, 489 (Utah 1986). The relevant inquiry in on-call employee cases is what the driver was doing at the time of the accident. If he was not performing any act he was hired to perform and was not primarily motivated by a purpose serving his employer’s interests at the time of the accident, then he was not acting within the scope of his employment as a matter of law.

Id. The undisputed evidence shows Mr. Shannon was commuting home from work at the time of the accident. He completed his last tow 41 minutes before the accident, he had confirmed with his boss that he was done working for the day, he was on his way home and he had stopped at a restaurant to purchase dinner. Even though Mr. Shannon was on-call, he was not performing any task or completing any errand for Ogden at the time of the accident. Thus, no reasonable juror could conclude that the coming-and-going rule does not apply.

Mr. Hoskins and Mr. Shannon next argue that even if the coming-and-going rule does apply, the dual purpose exception precludes summary judgment. The dual purpose exception “has been applied in cases where the employer is benefited by the employee’s conduct, even though the employee may have some personal motivation for his actions.” *Whitehead v. Variable Annuity Life Insur. Co.*, 801 P.2d 934, 937 (Utah 1989) (citations omitted). It does not apply in this case because Mr. Shannon’s predominant motivation

and purpose at the time of the accident was to return home, not to perform any task for Ogden.

Mr. Hoskins and Mr. Shannon next argue that the instrumentality exception to the coming-and-going rule precludes summary judgment. This argument fails because the instrumentality exception has only been applied in worker's compensation cases. It has not been applied in third-party negligence cases such as this and there is no basis to import it here. Even if the instrumentality exception applied to negligence cases, it would not apply here based on the undisputed facts. The critical inquiries for the instrumentality exception are the control the employer exercises over the employee, and the benefit the employer receives from the employee's conduct. Ogden derived no benefit from Mr. Shannon's drive home other than the fact that Mr. Shannon had a tow truck available if needed, and it did not control how and when he arrived home.

Finally, Mr. Hoskins and Mr. Shannon argue that Ogden ratified that Mr. Shannon was operating the vehicle in the course and scope of his employment by continuing to employ him, paying his ticket, and providing him a legal defense. There is no authority in Utah or elsewhere supporting the application of ratification to hold Ogden vicariously liable for the alleged negligent act of one of its employees that occurred outside the course and scope of his employment. Even if Utah law allowed it, there would be no ratification as a matter of law based on Ogden's actions. Mr. Hoskins and Mr. Shannon cannot use ratification to circumvent the present jurisprudence of course and scope of employment.

For these reasons, Mr. Hoskins' and Mr. Shannon's arguments for reversal fail and Ogden respectfully submits that the district court's holding should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT OGDEN IS ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON MR. HOSKINS' CLAIM FOR *RESPONDEAT SUPERIOR*.

A. The Material Facts Underlying the District Court's Determination that Mr. Shannon Was Not Acting in the Course and Scope of His Employment Are Undisputed.

The district court found that the material facts underlying its ruling were undisputed. Neither Mr. Hoskins nor Mr. Shannon argues that this was error, and they do not argue that any material facts were in dispute. Instead, they argue that the district court incorrectly applied the coming-and-going rule to the undisputed facts to find that Mr. Shannon was not acting in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident. Thus, the question for this Court is whether the district court correctly applied the coming-and-going rule to the undisputed facts, and correctly held that Ogden is not vicariously liable for the accident because Mr. Shannon was not operating the tow truck in the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident.

B. The District Court Correctly Applied the Coming-And-Going Rule to this Case.

Generally under the coming-and-going rule, "an employee is not in the scope of his employment for purposes of third-party negligence claims when he is traveling to and from work." *Ahlstrom v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, 2003 UT 4, ¶ 6 (citing *Whitehead v. Variable Annuity Life Insur. Co.*, 801 P.2d 934, 936 (Utah 1989)). The rule "applies to

bar vicarious liability against an employer for commuting accidents caused by employees.” *Id.*, ¶ 18. In *Whitehead*, the Court explained that the critical question is whether the employee is fulfilling a work function and under the employer’s control at the time of the accident:

Anderson basically worked a nine-to-five schedule. He had a fixed office where the bulk of his work was performed. He frequently left the office for sales calls or meetings; however, at the time of the accident he was not on a sales call, an errand, or a special mission for his employer. VALIC had no control over Anderson’s decision to commute to and from work, the route he chose, or the manner in which he drove his automobile. The fact that Anderson frequently used his car for business purposes does not make VALIC liable for all accidents he may be involved in. Liability for an employee’s negligence is imposed only when the employee is acting for the benefit of the employer and under his control. Anderson’s commute on the evening in question did not possess these essential characteristics; therefore, we apply the general rule that an employee is not within the course and scope of his employment while going to and coming home from his place of employment.

801 P.2d at 937 (emphasis added).

The coming-and-going rule applies to this case because the undisputed evidence establishes that Mr. Shannon was not fulfilling a task for Ogden, but rather was driving home from work at the time of the accident. Mr. Shannon completed his last tow of the day at 6:36 p.m. in Brigham City. *See* R. 608, R. 858-59, R. 1067-68, R. 1329-1331, R. 1379-80. Mr. Shannon called his boss, Tom Bauer, as was his practice, to confirm that he was done working for the day. *See* R. 609-10, R. 860-61, R. 1070-1071, R. 1333-35, R. 1381-83. Mr. Shannon then began driving to his home in Ogden, stopping at a Kneaders restaurant to get dinner. *See* R. 1951, p. 53, R. 610, R. 861, R. 1072, R. 1335, R. 1383-84. After getting his dinner, he continued toward his home and hit Mr. Hoskins

while making a left turn. *See* R. 1951, pp. 52-53, R. 611, R. 861-62, R. 1072, R. 1335-36, R. 1384-85. The accident occurred 41 minutes after Mr. Shannon completed his last tow and confirmed with his boss that he was done working for the day. *See id.* Although Mr. Shannon was on-call if Ogden needed him to respond to an after-hours service call, he had not been called, and he was not travelling to another location to tow another vehicle or performing any task for Ogden when the accident occurred. *See* R. 1951, pp. 52, 54, R. 1327-28, R. 1377-78. Furthermore, Ogden had no control over the route he chose or the manner in which he drove the tow truck on his way home. (*See* R. 609-11, R. 860-62, R. 1070-72, R. 1333-36, R. 1381-1385.) Therefore, no reasonable juror could conclude that the coming-and-going rule does not apply here to bar vicarious liability against Ogden.

- i. *The coming-and-going rule applies to "on-call" employees who drive company vehicles outside of work hours, but are not actively responding to a service call.*

Mr. Hoskins and Mr. Shannon argue that the coming-and-going rule either does not apply to Mr. Shannon, or should be applied differently, because he drove a company vehicle home from work and he would have responded to an after-hours service call from Ogden, if necessary.

A survey of cases from Utah and other jurisdictions involving on-call employees who drive company vehicles outside of work hours, but are not actively responding to a service call, demonstrates that the coming-and-going rule is generally applied to those situations to prevent vicarious liability. The Utah Supreme Court reached this conclusion in *Lane v. Messer*, 731 P.2d 488 (Utah 1986). In *Lane*, the employee/driver was an on-

call alarm system installer who took a company van home to enable him to respond to service calls after regular working hours. *Id.* at 489. The employee finished his shift at 5:00 p.m. and went home. Later that night, he drove the company van to a bar to get drinks with some friends at 9:00 p.m., and was involved in an accident while driving home from the bar shortly after midnight. *See id.* Although the driver was on-call at the time of the accident, he was not responding to a call, and had not made any service calls that night. *See id.* The Court ruled:

Under these facts, there is only one reasonable conclusion that can be drawn. [The driver] was not performing any act he was hired to perform and was not motivated in any way by a purpose to serve his employer at the time of the accident. (Citations omitted). Therefore, as a matter of law, he was not acting within the scope of his employment at the time of the accident.

Id.

In *Ahlstrom v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, the Utah Supreme Court applied the coming-and-going rule to an off-duty police officer driving a city vehicle, who was on-call if needed for emergencies. *See* 2003 UT 4, ¶¶ 2, 8, 73 P.3d 315. The Court noted that other jurisdictions generally apply the coming-and-going rule to these officers to prevent vicarious liability, and that they follow the same general framework as Utah, which weighs the benefit and control exercised by the employer against the personal nature of the trip in order to determine where it is appropriate to place liability. *See id.*, ¶¶ 8-9. The Court concluded that for cases involving off-duty police officers, “liability should not attach unless there are unique circumstances,” that would “tip the balance from a personal trip to one that primarily benefits the department.” *Id.*, ¶ 13.

The principle that can be discerned from *Lane* and *Ahlstrom* is that even though an employer derives some benefit from having on-call employees, merely being on-call while driving a company vehicle is not enough to find that an employee was acting in the course and scope of employment. *See Ahlstrom*, 2003 UT 4, ¶ 9 (“This does not mean that if the employer derives *any* benefit or exercises *any* control over the conduct it will be liable”). Instead, the court must look at what the on-call employee is doing at the time of the accident. If the employee “was not performing any act that he was hired to perform and was not motivated in any way by a purpose to serve his employer at the time of the accident,” then the employee is not acting within the course and scope of employment as a matter of law. *See Lane*, 731 P.2d at 490. In other words, if an on-call employee is not actively pursuing his work duties (i.e., responding to a service call), then the coming-and-going rule applies to bar vicarious liability against the employer.

Other jurisdictions follow a similar approach when dealing with on-call employees. For example, the Louisiana Court of Appeals has ruled that merely being on-call could not invoke vicarious liability in *Herndon v. Neal*, 424 So.2d 1180 (La. Ct. App. 1982). In *Herndon*, the employee/driver was a welder who “readily accepted any call, regardless of the time of day or the day of the week.” *Id.*, at 1182. The driver finished work for the day and stopped at a local lounge to visit a girlfriend on his way home from work. He was involved in an accident immediately after leaving the lounge. *See id.* The Court concluded that the driver was clearly “engaged in a personal mission when the collision occurred.” *Id.* The Court rejected the plaintiff’s argument that the employer was liable because the driver was on-call 24 hours a day, holding, “[w]e conclude this

informal type of “on-call” situation does not mean the employee is within the course and scope of the employment every second of every day.... It would be ludicrous to say at the time of this accident [the driver] was in any way pursuing his duties as an employee of Cajun Welding.” *Id.*

The Georgia Court of Appeals reached the same conclusion in *Short v. Miller*, 304 S.E.2d 434 (Ga. Ct. App. 1983). In *Short*:

Appellant relie[d] heavily upon the fact that at the time of the accident, Miller was subject to 24-hour call by Nixdorf, where he worked as a computer technician. While Miller’s regular hours were 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, he was on standby for emergency service calls through the entire 7-day week during which the accident occurred. Miller’s pay for this week included an additional four hours at the overtime rate, which was the standard compensation for the inconvenience of being on standby. Standby employees were not required to check in or to leave word as to where they could be reached, but they were provided with beepers. Evidence was undisputed that Miller took no calls and performed no service for his employer on the weekend of the accident.

Id., at 434-435. The trial court granted summary judgment, and the appellate court affirmed, holding, “Appellant has produced no evidence that Miller had received or was responding to any call of duty immediately prior to or at the time of the collision, or that he was in the performance of any duty as such employee at the time and place of the collision ... the trial court did not err in granting summary judgment.” *Id.*, at 435.

The facts in this case are nearly identical to those in *Lane*. Mr. Shannon was driving a company vehicle. He went on a personal errand (to get dinner at Kneaders) and was on his way home at the time of the accident. Although he was an on-call employee, he was not on a service call at the time of the accident. He had been off work since he finished his last tow in Brigham City, 41 minutes earlier. He had not received any

additional service calls since finishing his work for the day. Like the driver in *Lane*, Mr. Shannon was not performing any service for Ogden, and was not motivated in any way to serve Ogden at the time of the accident. The district court correctly applied the coming-and-going rule to these facts to find as a matter of law that Mr. Shannon was not acting within the scope of his employment.

ii. *The district court did not err in taking this decision from the jury.*

Mr. Hoskins and Mr. Shannon argue that “the trial court erred by taking from the jury the question of whether Shannon was acting within the course and scope of his employment with Ogden Auto Body at the time of the subject accident.” (Hoskins Brief, 11). They contend that a reasonable juror could find that Mr. Shannon was acting within the course and scope of his employment because 1) Ogden received a substantial benefit from having Shannon on-call and in possession of its truck; 2) Shannon would have responded to a call on the night of the accident if he had been called; and 3) Ogden exercised control over Shannon’s use of the truck. Each of these arguments fail.

Mr. Hoskins’ primary argument is that Ogden should be liable because it received “the substantial benefit of having Shannon on-call and in possession of its tow truck 24 hours a day.” (Hoskins Brief, 25). However, the Utah Supreme Court has ruled that this is not sufficient to impose liability on the employer for a commuting accident. In *Lane*, the employee “was driving a van provided to him by Honeywell ... [and] Honeywell for its own benefit required its employees to take their service vans home with them.” *Lane v. Messer*, 731 P.2d at 489-490. Yet, the Court ruled that the driver “was not performing any act he was hired to perform and was not motivated in any way by a purpose to serve

his employer at the time of the accident ... Therefore, as a matter of law, he was not acting within the scope of his employment at the time the accident occurred.” *Id.*, at 490.

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